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can in no ﬁay be held accountable, but Francis and
his colleagues, who possessed supreme power, mignt
have saved his life by asking the Supreme Court to
grant his prayer that the execution of the sentence
should be suspended pending a reference to England.*
Not on Hastings but on the triumvirate must rest the
responsibility of the death of the culprit Nundcoomar,

argued that ghe more he disliked Hastings the wider his grounds of quarrel
with him were, the more natural was it that he should be his assailant: afd
the reason for the House of Commons excluding him by their vote from a
» place among the managers surpassed the powers of comprehension, —Stntu. "
men of the time of George Ill, by Lord Brougham, page 89,

* “Francis gave as an excuse for not applying to the Court the complnint
made by the Court that it was unconstitutional to address a Court of Justice
on matters judicially before it by letter, and not by petition or motion in open
Court. He must either have overlooked or wilfully refused to notice the broad
distinction between writing a letter to the Court on a matter judicially before
them, and writing on a matter in which they had to exercise an executive
discretion. The latter is as natural and proper as the former is unconstitu.
tional, The Home Secretary in England constantly corresponds with indi.
vidual Judges as to applications for pardons. He would never dream of writ
ing to a Judge as to the exercise of his judicial duties. Any such application
would have to be made by Counsel in Court.”~ The Story of Nundcoomar,
by Sir Fita¥ ames Stephen, Volume I, page 236.
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,,;, CHAPTER 1V.

FOREIGN AFFAIRS—-DUEL WITH rmncrs.'i

Shortly after Nundcoomar had been committed
for trial, a despatch arrived from the Bombay

Government announcing that they had made. a
treaty with Raghoba, the claimant Yo the throne

of the Peshwa, by which he agreed to cede
Salsette and Bassein to the English in tonsidera-
tion of being himself restored to Poona.l Hastings
pronounced the treaty unseasonable, imipolitic, unjust,
and unauthorised. ‘““It is unseasonable because the
treaty was formed with Raghoba at a time in
which he appears to have been totally abandoned
by his former adherents. It was impolitic because
it threw the whole burthen of theé war on the
Company without a force at the command of the
Presidency equal to the undertaking, without money
or certain resources, and because it was under-
taken without any regard to the general interest of the
.other settlements of the Company in India. It was
unjust because they had received no injury from any
part of the Mahratta State which could authorise
their interfering in their mutual dissensions, nor were
3 under any actual ties to assist Raghoba.” ®* Though
Hastings condemned the treaty, he t?oka statesman’s
view of the position, and felt that to withdraw abrupt-
ly after having entered into positive engagements with

* Secret Select Committee’s Proc., 315t May 1775, Vol. 11, page 301. .



one party and oﬂended the other perhaps ba\ond hopes.
of reconciliation, might be attended with greater dan-
ger than prosecuting the original design and even with
national dishonour. He therefore proposed that— ‘
“The President and Council of Bombay be perempto-
1ily enjoined to cancel the treaty with Raghoba, and
to withdraw the detachment immediately to their own
possesSions by whatever means may be in their power,
unless any of the following cases may have occurred:—
“ rst—That they shall have obtamed any decxswc :
advantage over the enemy ;’
“ 2nd—That the detachment shall have proceeded
to such a distance, or bein such a situa-
tion, as to make it dangerous either to
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retreat or go on ;"

‘“ srd—That a negotiation shall have taken place
between Raghoba and his opponents in
consequence of the support afforded by
this alliance.” *

Francis efitirely agreed “with the Governor General
in disapproving of the conduct of the Government of
Bombay, and in protesting against all the consequences »
which may attend it;” * but he added: “I thnk/
that their engaging the Company’s troops on distant
inland expeditions, especially without any determinate
object for their operations, or limitation of time
for their services, ought not to receive the least

* Secret Select Committee’s Proc, 31st May 1775, Vol. Il page 392.
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countenance or authority from us ; and that we ought =
to insist upon their recalling the troops without any

consideration but that of their safe retreat.” ¥ |
- It was agreed by the majority that “ the troops be
ordered to be recalled without any exception but the
single consideration of their safety.” *
* The Bombay Government obeyed th® commands
of the Supreme Government and ordered the"forces
who had won the hard-fought battle of Arras into
British territory, but the President wrote a dignified
protest against their action. He declared that he and
his colleagues considered the welfare of the Presi-
dency entirely depended on their preventing the Island
of Salsette from again falling into the hands of the Por.
“in this situation we are of opinion
policy absolutely required that we should side with
one of the con.tending parties in the Mahratta State,
that it might be reconciled to our motives for that

tuguese, and

attack, and to our continuing in possession of that

“island. This necessity being allowed, justice doubt- -

}ess required that we should take part with Raghoba,

;’che Peshwa, and in duty to our employers we made

this decision as advantageous to them as possible, as
we think is evident from the treaty.” + They proceed-
.ed to inform the Governor General that they had de-

| * Secret Select Committee’s Proc., 315t May 1778, Vol. 11, page 302.
_t Selections from the State Papers preserved in the Bombay Secretariat

(Mahratta Series).
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ol MAHRATTA AFFAIRS.

puted Mr. William Taylor, “ a member of our Board,
to visit Calcutta in order, more fully than can be done
by letter at so great a distance, to represent to your

~ Honor and Council the motives for all our proceedings,
" the present situation of affairs, with the danger and
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discredit that must attend our treaty being cancelled,
and Raghoba deserted?” Mr. Taylor on reaching
Calcutta wrote a very full and able letter reviewing
Mahratta affairs, but his arguments had no effect on
the Supreme Government. They informed him that
“ after duly considering the representations which you
have been pleased to deliver to us, we are confirmed

in our opinion of the expediency of the Company’s

troops being immediately recalled from the service of
Raghoba to their own garrison?” They also declared
their intention of deputing an agent of their own,
Colonel Upton, to negotiate with the ruling ministerial
party at Poona. At first the pretensions of the Minis.
try at Poona were so great that it was impossible to
make any settlement with them, and on the 7th March
the Supreme Government, thinking that Colonel

Upton’s negotiations had been entirely broken off, .

wrote to the Bombay Government to renew hostilities.
They said—* We think it necessary to take the ear-
liest opportunity to release you from the restrictions
which we formerly laid upon your bperations, and to

provide every nfeans in our power for carrying on the
war in conjuncticn with Raghoba with vigour.” The
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;anca mth Raghoba. It proved, however, ouly
o m and hollow truce. The Bombay Govemc

e It was impossible that any treaty whleh #4

-alsette in the hands qf the Englxsh would magt .\

y.and Poona authorities to the Govemor

in Council, and in ineffectual though earnest
vours on their part to reconcile them. Then AR ¥
.:faature was added to the dispute by the ap'umj #
‘the Chevaller de St. Lubin at Poona. Nana l?ad-

‘!ygvatt.ached hxmself to the Chevalker. 2 Th¢
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5 the coast of Coromandel, which will certamly
to the influence of the English on this coast, a

e ,i-bluh,d it he Selections from the Bombay State m ratt
ric , ‘udmmsamnm.amuuu. &m :
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~ application from the Mahratta State and treated ac-

~ cer of the Government, and the principal person Wit
.~ whom Colonel Upton concluded the late treaty on be-
. half of the State he being the Minister first named in
~ the treaty.” It was also ordered that “ the resolution
~ be immediately forwarded to the Governor General and
. Council, who, we flatter ourselves, will do justice to
~ our motives, and afford their approbation and support
to the step we have taken, and to the measures we
may  further pursue.”/l' he approbation and support
- of the Supreme Government were, after a stormy de-
bate, gained only by the casting vote of Hastings,
~ who owing to the death of General Clavering had re-
~ covered his ascendancy in Council. Francis and
Wheler condemned the resolution as illegal, unjust,
and impolitic.” They argued that it was illegal be-
cause it was taken without the sanction of the supreme
~_authority ; unjust because it was contrary to the Treaty
« of Purandhar; and imp(;litic because it involved the
- English in the dangers and burdens of war. ¢ Hastings
and Barwell argued that the emergency justiﬁcci the
illegality ; that it was not contrary to the treaty be-
cause the principal person with whom the treaty had
- sbeen made had proposed it; and that it was not im=
" politic because it would give the English permanent
~influence in the Mahratta Empire. ~After considerable

‘¢ordingly : as Sakaram Bapu is the Divan, or first o fi-



EXPEDITION OF COLONEL LESLIE. 14
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 discussion, and after minutes of considerable. abiliﬁ;
“and force had been dictated and read at the Council
*d both by Francis and Hastings, the following
main resolutions were adopted : that the President and
Council of Bombay are warranted by the Treaty of
Purandhar to join in a plan for conducting Raghunath-
rao to Poona on the application of the ruling part of
the administration of the Mahratta State; that a sup-

ply of money, to the amount of ten lakhs of rupees,
be immediately granted to the President and Council
of Bombay; that military assistance be sent to the
Presidency. A force under Colonel Leslie was order=
ed to cross the Continent, and place itself under the
orders of the Government of Bombay. '
On the 8th June a letter reached the Board from
Colonel Leslie informing them that he had met with
some slight opposition from the Mahrattas, and
Francis took advantage of the occurrence to propose,
with the pertinacity which distingnished him, that
“the expedition be absolutely countermanded, and
Colonel Beslie’s command of course dissolved as soop
as he has quartered his troops on this side the Jumna
in the best manner the season will permit.”* Before =

the proposition could be discussed news of a very =
grave nature reached the Board. Thé Bombay Gov-
ernment wrote to them=-1It is with much concern we

b

* Secret Select Committee’s Proc., 11th June 1778, Vol. 11, page 623.
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t!se operation of a measure of such lmportmce ;ed :
lwnonal interests and to the national safety ,}em:
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~ of all India turned upon it. On the contrary, ifitb
r&uy true that the Bntlsh arms and mﬂuenee
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MMQ various measures concercing the defence

“of  the “city and province, proposed that—* Raja

- Chayt Singh be required in form to contribute his.

share’ of the burthen of the present war by con-

senting to the establishment of three regular

‘battalions of sepoys, to be raised and maintained at
his expense.”* Francis acquiesced in the proposal,
but suggested that Chayt Singh *‘ should be informed
‘that this additional charge will not be imposed upon
him* beyond the continuance of the present war.’*
Hastings remarked that “ the qualification proposed
- was ‘consonant to my intention on the question and

L implied in it;"” but he could not agree to have any

- specific words added to the proposition as the matter

Jinvolved a grave principle. I agreed,” he stated,
“to add to the question the following words—*‘and to
be disbanded at the end of the war;’ but perceiving

~ that the difference in our opinions upon this subject

arises not from a disagreement respecting the requisi-

' “tion simply considered by itself, but from a different

understanding of the right of the Compan§ to exact,

- under any pressure of affairs, more than the sum st

pulated by the sunnud granted to Chayt Sing and the

- kubbooliat given by him in return; I must therefore

ere to the question as it stands, wishing to avoid

‘t'hé\ question of rig'nt. If however we cannot agree

# Secret Select Committee's Proc., oth July 1778, Vol. II, page 638.
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upon this point, still, I would wish to have the requisi-

fion made in the words of the question, and leave the

decision of future right to our superiors.”'® At the
close of the debate Hastings again reiterated his opi-

nion as to the right of the paramount power to make

the demand. His words were—"'1 agree to the ques-

_tion in the original terms of it, deeming it a right in-

herent in every Government to impoese such assess-

¥

ment as it judges expedient for the common service*
and protection of all its subjects; and we are not pre-

cluded from it by any agreement subsisting between
the Raja and this Government."t It was “resolved

that the Raja Chayt Sing be required in form to con-

tribute his share of the burthen of the present war, by

the establishment of three regular battalions of sepoys

to be raised and maintained at his expense, and the
Governor General is requested to write to him to that
effect.”t :

Though no formal intimation of the war with the

by a-decisive stroke, to take possession of the

"rench settlements in India. A force was imme-

diately despatched to demand the surrender of

Chandernagore, and on the r1oth of July Colonel

» ’

# Secret Select Cquimittre's Proc.,"gth July 1778, Vol. 11, page 638. :
+ ~ Ditto Ditto oth July 1778, Vol. 11, jage 639.
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French had reached Bengal, Hastings determined,




Wk* pmsessmu“ ft
_lnagare this _morning at *xo o’clgb&.

to be acquainted “ with.the reastﬁ\s'Tqr
yce and force which you have used towards




aéamst England on the 3oth of the"
h,ve cannot depart from them. We beg

hoasos where he himself goes to take mventoneg-

‘ ‘commission beneath the rank he holds) is a ma:k

S

~mildness and attention.”*  The Governor Ge
mphed——“We did not think it necessary toa
cifically to the different articles which you
ﬁpbw t our cons:deratlon because the circ
ta ces,unde: which the town of Chandemagoté
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- an indignant refbnstrance to the English Command-

ant. They put forward an ingenious and plausible
argument that they should be unmolested becausc
“the English settled in France have peaceably exerted
their industry in times of war, and the same indul-

gence has been granted to the French settled in Eng-

land.” “We think, Sir,” they wrote;™“ this latter
situation with some exceptions to be'nearly that which
we have in Bengal. We have no other circulations
than the moneys which your Government coin; we
know no laws but those which you impose on us. Our

Government, faithful to its treaties, has only establish-

ed an administration at Chandernagore to give some
sanction to our existence and to judge our differences
according to our civil laws. If we had not thought,
Sir, that such was our existence in Bengal, and if our
interests, blended with those of the English, had not
strengthened us in this opinion, we should never have
abandoned ourselves to your discretion, in exercising
our industry in a country at 60 leagues distance from
the sea, and surrounded on all sides by ydur troops in
which, making sacrifice of our properties, we have not
even the hope of sheltering our liberty.”* The Eng-
lish Commandant with graceful flattery was regarded
. as one “ well asquainted with everything appertammg
tt? history,” and Yhe was remmded of the generous

* Secret Select Committee’s Proc., 14th July 1778, Vol. 11, page 65!.
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; tneatment that an Enghsh ship of war received ftoﬂ
the Governor of Havannah. ' ““ The history which te&‘ i
lates this fact makes no mention of the Governor’s

having been blamed by his Court, and all Europe

"'wgired the like conduct. So much is the law of

ions iuperior to that of war.”#
Colonel Dow forwarded the letter from the mer-.

“chants to the Supreme Council, and they directed that

all reasonable indulgence should “ be shown to them
in the full and free possession of their houses.”t

~ A despatch was sent to Madras announcing the
war with the French, and desiring that immediate

“steps should be taken for the capture of Pondi- i

cherry and of Mahé. It must have reached its
destination with unusual expedition, for according
to a letter dated the 8th of August *the troops
that had been encamped near Conjeverdm, consist-
ing of two battalions of Europeans, three com-
panies of artillery, and six battalions of sepoys with
sixteen 6-pounders, encamped on the Red Hills,
within 4 nBles of Pondicherry, and were intended to
prevent' any succour being thrown into the fort.”{

. More troops, battering cannon, and all sort of stores
~ had however to be brought from Madras, Vellore,

* Secret Select Committee’s Proc., 14th J-uly 1778, Vo ‘ﬁ, page 652.
+ .Dino Ditto 14th July 1778, Yol. 11, page 653.
Ditto Ditto g0th November 1778, Vol. I, page 668.



datheu' works, to contain four 24—ponnd_ s
~mortars. | The enemy fired continually
but on the 4th September the battery m
B ‘dn the 6th S°ptember the besiegers “)

,ut wwards the evening our batteries had &
‘the advantage and the enemy’s fire decr
i The approaches both an the north'

e sogth attack being complpted"a'.ﬁ
‘ red f:)\the same purpose to lhe nor




’n' s ® “ ! Thongh‘the assa
ce yet an attack was made on ﬁh

i v;as surpnsed and the enemy'’s partyk.
two Europeans were mostly killed, wounded
Ms. \ Some sepoys escaped as did

:gﬁ:the evening, but about 11 in the forenoon Mon:
P,e‘LVe‘llite, Aide-de-Camp to Majqr-Gene_r.ﬂ E

atgthe request of General Bellecombe'
: of Pondicherry was allowed to retain i

:’ '&a hpseof some months the foruﬁ %




°\“ “P f
-sltuated in his dominions. He had a month pre-
kusly written direct to the Governor General as

tentions against the French factory of Mahé. In my
~ country there are factories belonging to the English,
~ Dutch, Portuguese, Danes, and French and besides
them there are many merchants here who are con-
sidered as my subjects ; if any one entertains designs
_against those traders 1 will without doubt take the
best and most considerate method to give them assist-
ance. If you are not already acquainted with this,
"you may inform yourselves of those who have been
long members of your Council.”* % &

The growing: hostility of Hyder threw a new and
formidable difficulty in the way of Hastings: and the
. faction within the Council, as well as the exhaustion
i “ of the treasury, added bitterness to the miserable
g ~ result of the war. The attempt to push into the heart
. of the Mahratta dominion with a small army had ended
- in disaster and disgrace. But the hour .of danger is
;  the opportunity of heroes. General Goddard, a soldier
of courage and capacity, on hearing of the defeat of
l\e Bombay trodps, marched his detachment from

y 'Secw. Select Committee's Proc.,'23rd March 1779. Vol. 1), page 668.

follows :—“] see what you write concerning your m-“



ed it and rentored*he reputqtion of tlwﬁ ish.
Tﬁe Supreme Government on heanng"’ the

meaiately disavowed it and directed General"_ L
; dud to open a fresh negotiation wnth the Mmlstmmg’" '

; to thelr dominions, nor allow that nation to form i‘h& %
"".astabhshment on the Mahratta Coast.t The Mﬁ!u

app) mmtof retrieving the recent dishonor which has tarnished t““
w name ? Let me receive my customary portion of ocnunfor lnvl!t
1 the expedition; 1 expect it. Bug his conduct in the execution of ﬂ,
which has no relation to the principles of its formatigs, must surely entitle
im to universal applause.”’— Letter 4o Lawrence Sillivan, \8th April :mp
“» ) UE,




~ They opposed it on the ground of expense, the time

-
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east of Agra from the encroachments of S;ndia. :
 The detachment under the command of Ma.;ot
Popham advanced in February, and after expelling
the Mahrattas from Gohud assaulted and captured
~ the fortress of Lahar. It was however felt, that

the force was too small to materially divert the'Mah-

larger force under Major Camac should be sent to
hvade Mahdajee Sindia’s country and to attack his
capital. This proposition was vigorously opposed by

= .
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 ratta strength, and it was therefore proposed that a

“Francis and Wheler in a minute dated 1gth June 1780.

chosen, and because they considered that “a peace
was indispensably necessary to save the India Com-

pany, and every interest connected with theirs, from

the greatest distress if not certain ruin.”* Hastings
~replied that ““the rainy season is no impediment to
our troops, but a great one to the Mahrattas, which

consisted only of cavalry.” * The objection made to

the expense,” he admitted, “is a materifl one, but a
vigorous assertion,” he remarked, ““cannot be made
without expense, nor can the war either be concluded
honourably or prosecuted successfully without such an

\\

2
\. Secret Select Committee’s Proc,, 19th June 1780, Vol. I, page 693.

exertion. Feeble measures .and advances for peace
A .




dversaries, discourage our friends, and perhaps :
m to become parties against us. The resources
this Government, exhausted as they are, and thhheﬂ-
S from it by its internal imbecility, are yet equal to every
probable contingency of the present war, if it is cons
~ ducted on a consistent plan, and that not barred by
desultory votes of Council on every measure for itl
~ prosecution.”®  As the main arguments of his oppo-
nents were drawn from the low state of the treasury and
' the inability of the Government to support the expense 5 &
~of the expedition, Hastings, after pointing out that the
~ pay and batta of the troops would be the same whe- i
¢ ther they remained in their original quarters, or march=
 ed to the capital of Sindia, stated—‘‘ The contingen= ‘
~ cies of the detachment are therefore the only expense ‘
~ that can be reasonably charged to the expedition.
These I rate far below two lakhs of rupees. That
sum [ offer to contribute to this disbursement. I have
already deposited it within a small amount in the hands
~ of the Sub-Treasurer, and I beg that the Board will
petnnt it to be accepted for that service. 't Hastmgsk
6 . communicated the fact of having advanced this money
to his friend Sullivan in a letter dated 3oth August

?‘«‘

~ # Segyet Select Committee’s Proc., 26th June /8o, Vol, 11, page 700.
PR D{uo © ditto, 26th June 1780, Vol. 11, page 701, -




fcapt the money, and he was on the point of retﬁrm*f i -
It odcm
‘ reéta me to convert it to a public use; 1 gave him . an}
bpportumty of repeatmg the offer, and accepted |t diu {

: mrer, and him to receive it as a deposxt in my nam
Mj : ft has since been re-coined, and turns out about tﬁ%‘»‘
~ lakhs of sicca rupees. I believe I shall communicate:
. this fact to the Court of Directors ; but if I do not, T
give you permission to make what use of the aboy
relation of it you think proper, declaring upon myhozé-'
:durthatl never will recla:m the money, and’ tbat ’f

‘\cewe it, or onesimilar to it.” Hastings did éomiﬁa-' i
nicate the fact to.the Court of Directors. In a let!ér‘

't,o them, dated 2gth of November 1780, he wrote'--




'Ihe ‘acceptance of this present was one o!
'-charges of bribery brought against Hastings, bu.t nﬁq
‘the vanous and frank avowals which he made of h;g,‘;
ing received it, it is impossible to believe that he cou!
- have had an idea of converting it to his.own use. He
~ordered it to be deposited in his name because he was
. averse to his opponents in Council having any power
 over its disbursement, and for the same reason he
™ worded his offer in such a manner as to lead them t.% e
suppose that he meant to give it from his own fortune.
~ The perpetual dissensions in Council and the almost
~ unremitted opposition made to the measures proposed
by Hastings induced him to do many unconstitutional

- agts which he would not have done had he been free
% ,and unshackled. If he received sums of-money with-
y t the consent of his colleagues, it must be borne in
mind that he also expended sums of money without _‘
- their participation or consent. He paid without. thﬁr
h*; - k%xowledgevthree lakhs of rupees for the ugmtemxpted
- passage of our army to the coast. Hastings had also
&/ ~often to spend sums of money on secret service whmb‘A
i he had every reason to believe the majority would ap 4

Lgeased the sums of money which Fastings recetmﬁ
were tarried t.o the publie accountg without delay,, and :
'&bout a.ay ctrcmtous proceedmg )
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_ Francis and Wheler persisted in  their opposmdﬂ

to Hastmgs proposals regarding the conduct of
the war, and Francis wrote an able and gcom-

prehensive minute, in which he attacked vigorously
the whole war policy of Hastings. “The Governor
‘General,” he writes, “talks of fnends who may
~ be discouraged, and who perhaps may be induced !
to become parties against us. We wish that the
names of those friends had been mentioned. We do
not know that this Government has a single friend or

- ally in India in the true sense of friendship and alli-

ance, which supposes the power of giving assistance
and a disposition to give it.”* Francis did not dény
that feeble measures and advances for peace may give
strength and presumption to their adversaries, but he
added—“ We never meant to propose feeble measures,

- which necessarily defeat themselves: nor yet do we

approve of vigorous measures, in the sense in whtc&1
wgour has been hitherto understood, because we are
~ convinced that this Government is unable to support
" them, and that if they could be supported ¢ short time
longer they would not bring us nearer to our objeet.
Before the commencement of the war we foresaw. and

~ foretold the principal consequences that would attend it.

We now judge of it by its effects, which we hope wdl

s
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;Soctet Sele.ct Commﬁm’s Proc., 13th July 1780, Vol. ll,pﬁggm
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; be mdefed though cvery other sort of agw
should continue to be disregarded. "*
The tone of the minute and the taunt of fa'llum'
could not fail to rouse the wrath of Hastings.
- His anger was increased by the belief that Francis
was guilty of a gross breach of faith. At a
meeting of the Council held on the 25th January

1779 Hastings had delivered a minute in which

he discussed the intimation given by Mr. Bar.
well of his intention to return to England. He

~ stated it would be fatal to the success of the Mahur-‘
~ ratta war if it were known at Poona and Nagpur that

the powers of the Government were “on the eve of

devolving to two Members, who have invariably op~ "

posed in every stage of its progress the plan which has
been publicly adopted for the support of the Com-
pany’s interest on the western side of India,.and whos

Jit is universally believed, will seize the first means
which are offered to them to defeat and annul it alto-
gether.” He added—'‘ A Member of this Government

entrusted with the guardianship of the Company’s in«

LS

terests, and of the honour of the British name in India,

has not scrupled to propose that we should make an

~ abject submission to the honourable possessors of the
*&oble Government of Poona, acknow]edgmg our past




witha promue of«atnqument and ’mbb‘ :
reating their permission for the safe retreat Qf imt"* :
i my from Berar to its confines,” and he sup ported
.gfh}a‘.statement by quoting some remarks made by
"‘Ffbncis in a recent minute. Hastings then in the
most emphatic manner implored Barwell not to carry
out his intention of proceeding to England. “I. .
therefore conjure Mr. Barwell, both by that zeal whncb i
he has hitherto so steadily manifested for the mtprests
df:*oqr.common masters, and even by the ties ofa
 friendship cemented by a participation of the same
l’j-labour and sufferings for the public service, that.,hé.l s
. will not permit the measures in which he has a com-
~ *mon and equal responsibility with myself to be ex-
~ posed to the triumph of a party, but that he will both =
‘continue to afford the support of his presence an@. }
 abilities to the present Government while it yet exists,
~ and that he will suffer me to exact from him a declar-
~ ation to that purpose, not only for my own satisfaction
~ but for that of every man who has the Companj’s
interests or the prosperity of this settlem@nt. or the
~ eredit of his country at heart, and who, 1 presume ;o i
~ say, expects this sacrifice from him.”* Barwellmp Pl
,aponded to the appeal of Hastmgs and declate@'ﬂm;" €




f@dvefnment as long as the public measures o'f\{ig
shall require,”*  Francis remarked that he and the
Govemor General differed greatly in their respective
) ideas of national honour. “1 have no idea of natiofi=
- al honour independent of justice. The projects of
* ambition are usually dangerous. If they are nothing
_but the projects of ambition, they are, in my judg-
‘ment, _always dishonourable. To revert to that pacxﬁe
system which the Company have uniformly prescnbéd
~ to us, to endeavour to conciliate the friendship, which
~ we have unjustly or unwisely departed from, and to

n

?s

return, if it be possible, to the terms of a treaty which
ire ourselves have wamonly vwlated are not ae&

on the British name. T am sure they are the be“i‘
s means of preserving our strength and our real influs
* : ence in India,fand 1 have no doubt that they will meet .
§ with the highest approbation from home. As long as

m trusted with any share in the office of guardian oﬁ y;,
. : Bntasb interests and honour in this country, y
all be the principles on which 1 will invariably act.%?’




~ taken place in Council it is somewhat surprising
 to find Hastings writing to his friend Sullivlhn as
3 "‘-uﬁollows =1 have assented to an accommodation
~ with Mr. Francis, the essential points of which are
~agreed on.” In a letter dated the 4th March he
again informed his friend of a- reconciltion havmg
‘-}j‘ - taken place between himself and Francis, and quotes
” .g“‘the conditions of the agreement. The first he 41
.~ gives in the following words:—*Mr. Francis will
L gt oppose any measures which the Governor Gene-
* ral shall recommend for the prosecation of the war ;
. in which we are supposed to be engaged with the
v Mabhrattas, or for the general support of the present
. political system of this Government. Neither will he |
' himself either propose or vote with any other member
= who shall propose any measure which shall be contrary. =
. to the Governor General’s opinion in these points.”*
He proceeds to inform Sullivan that ‘“Mr. Barwell,
~ who was privy to the treaty in all stages of it, had de-
. “termined to return to ‘England in consequence with
~my free consent.” He then speaks in the following
handsome terms of the man who had been for the
past five years his bitter foe, and had thwarted 'him
% \m every pohtxcal action: ‘“In this -instance l,,lia-ve' :

: \ . Secret Select Comm:t{ee's Proc., 2oth July 1780, Vol. 11, page g12; *
qho Memoirs of Warren Hastings, by Gleig, Volume 11, page 251.
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"Med Ehe stncenty wuh which I have acted, and my
. Francis’s faith and honour, and I
~ must add in testimony of both, and in justification of
~my own discretion, that he has behaved so openly and
~ with so little of the reserve and caution of a man ac-
 tuated by indirect views that I am certain and venture

~ to promise you that I shall suffer no loss of power

or influence by Mr. Barwell’s departurefthough L

shall miss and greatly regret the want éf that aid

: .=:‘\_1'r)hich I might have derived from his friendship, his

e

~termination by vigorous and united action. To be

i

judgment, and his official resources had he stayed,

and that I shall find Mr. Francis both true toi

his engagements and ready and willing to give
me his support and assistance to the period des-
‘tined for our acting together as joint members of
this Administration; I am not the least fearful of
the reverse.” A i'

What had lowered the pride of Hastings into an
accommodation with Francis was the need of a
united Government to meet the foreign and iuternal

: dzingers which threatened the very existence of our
~ dominion. The speedy and successful termination of
othe Mahratta war he considered essential to our

safety, and it could only be conducted to a prosperous

filee to act vggomusly he condescended to make teﬂm

el

iy




~ sooner had the departure of Barwell agam _
- power to Francis than concessions were de ded
~ with arrogance and were granted. As long as they
~«did not involve questions of foreign policy Ha:tmga
* conquered his pride. Then Francis was rash cnough :
to renew his tactics of obstruction with regard to the
- conduct of the war, and Hastingsin firm but moderate
.~ language suggested that his action inyolved a breach 4
~ of faith. He wrote—"‘ If Mr, Francis (I am compeﬂa
- ed to speak thus plainly) thinks that he can better
," ~and more effectually conduct the war, to the termina.
" tion which we both profess to aim at; and that he \
' can in honour deprive me of the right which I clam* )
_ to dictate the means of accomplishing it, let hunwﬁ.,
éﬁ avowedly take the lead; but if I am to be charged -
: wﬁt-h the consequences of it, or if the right which 1 =
L% ~ claim be justly mine, let him allow me to possess and
exercise it. It is impossible to combine the principles :
of enterprise and inaction in the same general mea-
‘sure, and as impossible for his sentiments and mine k
igia- N0 be brought into agreement on the subject of t;he
o Mahtatia war. 1 have in vain laboured to accomm_'
e \da.te them by a studied attention to his opinions in
:‘ﬁ el Ery measure which I have ventured to propose in thé‘ A
. cburse of the last fifteen months, and have resframed ]
i myself from urgmg others which, however proper and




Mn was submltted to him. Hastings felt the time. .
for action had arrived. He, however, never allowed
e ‘himeelf to act on impulse, or to be led by temm ity
B ~ He Qrote to his friend :—* 1 debated with myself a ”*
M time how I should act. I now saw plainly that
~ Mr. Francis had deceived me, and that 1 had no al- 4.%
~ ternativé but to let him take the rule and laugh at
6 - my cre{!uhty, or make it a matter too serious for deri-
. sion, and to expose the fallacy which he had thus un.
"'wérthily practised upon me. This I did in a very
o ming but deliberate and temperate charge which I
~ had prepared for the next Council day, which was #
Monda), the 3rd July.”t The charge was not lud
before the Council till six weeks afterwards, dunng
‘ l*uvlm:h time negotiations were being conducted for
: Qhoth opponénts to withdraw their respective minutes.
i On thé 14th August, when Hastings saw that all
& attempts to arnve ata comprom:se were hopeless, hc,

W f mlu of Warren Hastings, by c.mg, Valume 11, page 304 g
o A "W it unbocoming to surprise him with a minmntmm



 Wheler attacking the war was written entirely ‘by the

former, and with an expression of disappointment that 1

~ the hint conveyed by Hastings had not “awakened in
the breast of Francis, if it were susceptible of such

" sensations, a consciousness of the fawhless part he

was acting towards him.”*

o

it was laid before the Council. It o, orel 1] o
” assumpuon- that the minute signed by Francis and

e
e

y
\

“I have been disappointed, and milst now assume a phun» b

rer style and a louder tone. In a word, my objections do not
lie to the special matter of his minutes, to which I shall se-
~ parately reply, but to the spirit of opposition which dictated
them. I have lately offered various plans for the operations
~of the war. These have been successively rejected, as I
have successively amended and endeavoured to accommo-
date them to Mr. Francis’s objections. I had a right to his

W

implicit acquiescence. I have lastly proposed a service re-
. quiring immegdiate execution, and I have freed it from the-

only objection formally made to it.”

#  #In answer he says that he adheres to the reasons wlucb )

. had before induced him to withhold his' consent, and com-
posedly invites me to lay before the Board a complete detail
of the plan for conducting the war, a comparative statement
of the whole of the object with the whole of the means of
attaining it, and the final extent of my demands on the

'~ Mahrattas, or what concession I would make to them, and he

T promises to enter into the consideration of these points with

e N\ “ »
. or send it first to the Secretary, 1 enclosed it in a note to him that even-
. ing”—Memoirs of Warren Hastings, by Gleig, Volume I, page 307. .
% Sccret Select Committee’s Proc., 2oth July 1780, Vol II, page 711,
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- to gain information, I might refer him to the large and confi-
~ deutial discussions in which I have laid all my views open to
G V'&, with all the grounds on which they were formed. If his :
i purpose was to enable him to form a more clear or competent

- judgment of the plans which I have proposed, its object would

I do not trust to his promise of candour,?nnced ‘that he i g
G incapable of it, and that his sole purpose and ok

the ntinout candour. ' If his design imﬂxis enquiry was'.smpﬁ'

be lost in the time required for the deliberation. But in truth,

wish are to em-
barrass and defeat every measure which | may undertake, or

~ which may tend even to promote the public interests, if my
“eredit is connected with them. Such has been the tendency

and such the manifest spirit of all his actions from the ©
beginning. Almost every measure proposed by me has for
that reason had his opposition to it. When carried against

b : his opposition, and too far engaged to be withdrawn, yet even

then and in every stage of it his labours to overcome it have
been unremitted, every disappointment and misfortune have
been aggravated by him, and every fabricated tale of armies
devoted to famine, or to massacre have found theic first and

X8

~ ready way to his office, where it was known they would meet ~

the most welcome reception. To the same design muybe

attributed the annual computation of declining finances and

i

o8 imputations, apd 1 will anticipate it. Mir. Francis may safely

- an exhausted treasury. Computations which, though made in _
 the time of aBundance, must verge to truth at last, from the =
effect of-a discordant Government, not a constitutional decay. hia

To the same design shall I attribute the policy of accelerats

ing the boded event, and creating an artificial want, by keep. . %

ing up an useless hoard of treasure and withholding it from

a temporary circulation.”
" [ am aware of the answer which will be made to these |




mterpretatlon of his thoughts and assigning mﬁc ions tp

him, upon the reality of which he alone can pronounc vmﬁ J' '
_ certainty. He may claim an equal right to recnmmateiupon

‘me, and to_pass the same free judgment upon the motives ﬁ

~ which have influenced my public actions.  Against such con- 4
clusions I trust L'y character will be suffisignt to defend

‘ me, unless some Khown instance of it can be produceﬂ asa

- warrant for them, and such | am certain does not exut, enhet =

‘” ~ known or unknown P "

“My authority for the opinion which I have declamd P

concerning Mr. Francis depends upon facts which hav{q o

passed within my own certain knowledge. I judge of hw. &

- public conduct by my experience of his private, which I bave

found to be void of truth and honour, This is a sure charge,

SRS

LS

M but temperately and deliberately made from the firm persua- "
ol sion that [ owe this justice to the public and to myself, as 'f‘ﬁ
- the only redress to both, for artifices of which I have been § 4

victim, and which threaten to involve their interests with dis-
grace and ruin—tbe only redress for a fraud for which the
-hw has made no provisions is the exposure of it.””* ‘

In stipport of this allegation Hastings proceeded ‘.
to quote the first article of the agreemgnt, and he
added—“ By the sanction of this engagement ‘and the
.fhberal professions which accompanied it, [ was in-
~ duced to part with the friend to whose generous and "4
honourable support steadfastly yielded in a course of \

\s\x years | am indcbted for the existence of the Irtlld.‘

o

u

: M Select Committee's Proc.. 20th July 1780, Vol. 11, page 711,



;pbv}ér ‘which 1 have ever pgss ssed in that long ‘
disgraceful period to throw myself on the mercy of
‘Mr. Francis, and on the desperate hazard of his

~integrity. It was impossible to afford a stronge; de- .

monstration of the good faith with which I entered

into this accommodation, nor of my confidence in his,

than thus consenting to deprive my@f of the means
of breaking the engagement on my part, and of pre-
venting the breach of it on his; and surely this
~ difference in our relative situations ought to have im-
pressed him with a sense of what he owed to the

delicacy attending it, and have made him dread even
an approach towards the precise line of his obliga-
tions by the slightest advantage taken of my iqabilif} :

to repel it, and how much more ought it to have re-
strained him from the direct transgression of it.”* -
~ After the Council had risen, Hastings receiv-
ed a challenge from Francis which was accepted.
On the morning of the 17th August the duel
took place, and Francis was shot through the
body. On the t1th of September he again took his
seat at the Council Board and delivered in a minute in
answer to the charges brought against him by
Hastings. In it he stated :—

“On the point in issue I can only declare, as I do now in
the most solemn manner, that I never was party to the en-

-

® Secret Select Committee’s Proc., zoth July 1780, Vol. II, page 712.
489 : “




" 18 THE ADMINISTRATION

OF WARREN HASTINGS.
gagement stated by Mr. Hastings or had a theught of being
bound by it. In one of ouffconversatioas in February last,
he desired me to read a paper of memorandums, among
which, 1 presume, this article was inserted. lreturned‘. it to
him the minute I had read it with a declaration that I do not
agree to, or hold myself bound by, the contents of it, or to

that effect. From that time I have never seen the paper,”*
After denying that he had bound hjmself to any
agreement, Francis stated that ‘“the agreement he
meant to enter into with respect to the Mahratta war
was to prosecute the operations actually existing on
the Malabar coast, which since the campaign has
begun, and General Goddard had already taken the
field, I thought should be pushed on as vigorously as
ossible.””* To support this declaration he argued
S’lat at the time the Malwa expedition had never been
even hinted to him, and there was ‘‘a strong presump-

b

o

tion that up to that period the Governor General had

not had that measure in contemplation, or that he
must then have abandoned all thoughts of it.”* - o

As to Mr. Barwell having gone home only/;)n the

strength of the agreement having been made he
remarked :— \

“I believe it, for instance, to be the opinion of many well-
informed persons in this settlement, as it is now ﬁrnily my
own, that Mr. Barwell was determined to go home last season
at all events, and that the Swallow was kept for several

N\

* Sceret Select Commiitee’s Proc,, 11th September 1780, Vol, ll,'png_e 715.
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. months on purpose for him. ,If so, Mr. Hastings gained

something, and could lose nothifig, by his agreement with me.
* %4 % * Butas Mr. Barwell's going home was never de-
manded by me, nor ever entered iuto the agreement, I have
no concern in Mr. Hastings’ motives for consenting to it,”*

Barwell no doubt was most anxious to escape from

the thraldom of a thankless office, but he had prom- - ‘

ised Hastings in the most public manner at the Coun-
cil Board “to retract the intention of leaving.”+ He
could not break the promise without the consent of
Hastings, and it is extremely improbable that Hastings
would have given his consent unless he had made an
agreement with Francis. Months previous to the
quarrel, Hastings wrote as follows to a friend :—* Mr,
Barwell on the strength of this negotiation has half
taken his passage in the Swallow which will be de-
spatched express to England -as soon as this point is
determined.” At least one well-informed’ p;zrson did
not consider that Barwell, as Francis stated, was de-
termined‘to go home at all events. Sir Elijah Impey,
in a letter dated the 18th August 1780, the very da}

the dugl was fought between Hastings and Francis,

wrote—‘‘ Mr. Barwell left this country on the strongest
assurances that Mr. Francis would coincide with Mr.
Hastings, or he would never have gone.”

# Secret Select Committee’s Proc,, 11th Septemper 1780, Vol. Il, page 711“"

Ditto ditto 25th January 1779, Vol. I, page 666,
| N 2
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180  THE ADMINISTRATION OF WARREN HASTINGS.

‘Hastings did not reply to the minute of Franeis
for some time as “ other cases of a stronger obligation
have required and have engrossed the whole of my
attention and 1 now revert to it with reluctance as to

~a necessary yet unavailing, duty.”* He re-affirmed

with the utmost earnestness that there was an engage-
ment, ‘‘ What that engagement was I have expressed
in terms in my minute of the 3rd July. Mr. Francis
in answer declares, and ‘in the most solemn manner,
that he never was party to the engagement stated by
me, or had a thought of being bound by it” What
‘can I say to such a declaration but to declare on my
part in as solemn a manner that Mr. Francis was a
party to the engagement which I have stated? This
I now do most solemnly declare, and may God be the
judge between us.’t He asserted that it was Sir
John Day who proposed to him an accommodation
with Francis, and that he accepted the offer solely on
the indispensable condition “ that Mr. Francis should
agree to depart from his opposition to the political
measures proposed by me, and allow me; without ex-
ception or qualification, to prescribe the mode of con-
ducting the Mahratta war. This point was a long
time contested by Mr. Francis, but was at length ad-

\'"jpsted finally in this manner, that Mr. Francis should
\ .

¢ N
“®Secret Select Committee’s Proc., 13th November 1780, Vol.Il, page 734.
+ Ditto ditto 13th November 1780, Vol. 11, page %36.
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not oppose me, nor yet charge himself with the re-
sponsibility of any proposal made by me which had

_any relation to the war, but support it by his vote at

the result of a general measure which he had originally

disapproved, and which he now left with the respon-

sibility properly annexed to its original contriver.”*
Hastings proceeds to state :—

“This point being thus settled I drew it up in writing on a
small piece of paper in the words which I have already quoted,
with other propositions, of which some had, and some had not,
received our final and mutual agreement. * * ¥ ¥ ¥ Thig paper,
with some apology I showed to Mr. Francis, desiring him to
read it attentively, and to inform me whether he agreed to the
conditions as | had expressed them, or to point out his
exceptions. To the first article, which is that of the present
question, he replied hastily, and with every appearance of
satisfaction, that he entirely agreed to it, adding among other
expressions, as | well remember, that his meanipg plainly
was not to avail himself of Mr. Barwell's departure from the
Council to oppose me in any polifical point which he could
not have carried had Mr. Barwell continued. The other
articles received some variations and were all finally regulated
at the same meeting. Of these, as they do not relate to the
question. before me, I shall take no further notice. For the
truth of this narrative I appeal to Sir John Day, to whom I
daily communicated what passed on this business, and to Mr.
Barwell, to whom I in like manner related the daily progress
of it. They will both attest that my relation of it at the time
was exactly the same as I now repeat it. It is impossible to

Y

# Secret Select Committee's Proc., 13th November 1780, Vol. I, page 736.




182 THE ADMINISTRATION OF WARREN HASTINGS.

suggest a motive which I could have had to deceive them at
such a time and on such a subject, and as impossible that 1
myself should be deceived when I took such means to ascer-
tain it. Yet Mr. Francis affirms that ‘he returned the paper
to me the moment he had read it with a declaration that he

did not agree to it, or held himself bound by the contents of

EPREIr S
it. T

Hastings met the statement of Francis, that the
agreement which he meant to enter into with respect
to the Mahrattas was limited to the operations on the

* Malabar Coast, by quoting an article of a treaty with
the Rana of Gohud which clearly proved that a diver-
sion in the province of Malwa formed a part of the
measures projected and actually existing before the
agreement was concluded. He added—*When I
prbgosed the execution of it other circumstances had
recently occurred. General Goddard had solicited us
to. make such a diversion in his favour, and the Com-
mander-in-Chief had passionately recommended it as

the only means of bringing the war to a speedy term-

o ination.”t Francis replied : “In an argument of the
kind the strictest precision of dates should be ob-
served and the facts stated in the order in which they
happened. On this principle I join issue with the

* Secret Sclect Committee's Proc., 13th November 1780, Vol. I1, page 736.
t Ditto ditto 13th November 1780, Vol. 1l, page 737.
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Governor General and affirm in his own terms that

" when he proposed the execution of the measure (that

is, on the 12th Fune last) General Goddard had not
solicited us to make a diversion in his favour. The
fact, if it exists, is capable of immediate and direct
proof.”* Hastings supplied the immediate and direct

_proof by producing a letter from General Goddard,

forwarded through the Commander-in-Chief, which
contained the following words: ““ It would certainly be
of advantage to the operations of the war on this side
to cause a powerful diversion to be made on the other,
which could not fail to distress and divide their at-
tention exceedingly.”+ With regard to the request of
Francis that the strictest precision of dates should be
observed, Hastings remarked: “In compliance with :
the rule prescribed by Mr. Francis I have been care~
ful to amnex the dates to the preceding extracts and
for greater precision will repeat them with the facts
stated in the order in which they happened. General
Goddard’s letter to Sir Eyre Coote is dated the 28th.
March and*was recorded in our Consultation of the
29th May. My minute which contained the first pro-

position of the expedition was dated the 12th June.”t

Francis tried to escape from the dilemma in which heé

* Secrpt Select Committee’s Proc., 13th November 1780, Vol. 11, page 739*
t Ditto ditto 13th Novemmber 1780, Vol, 11, page 743.
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was placed by a petty quibhle. He wrote : *“ In deny-
ing that General Goddard had solicited us to make
such a dwersion in his favour, 1 took the proposition
literally as it was stated. I was perfectly sure that he
had never addressed the Board to that effect, and
that a request or opinion from him had never been
urged in support of the motion of the 1ath of June.
Whether his letter to the Commander-in-Chief, re-
corded on the 29th of May, be equivalent to a solici-
tation to us to make a diversion in his favour in the
sense in which the fact was asserted and denied, I
submit to judgment.”* Hastings indignantly answer=
ed: “Mr. Francis may avail himse!f as he can of the
distinction between a solicitation made by General
Goddard through the channel of the Commander-in-
Chief to the Board and one directly addressed to the
Board. It is sufficient for me that it came regularly
before us. I shall not waste my time nor his in such
a discussion. [ repeat that Mr. Francis’s engage-
ment was absolute and unqualified ; that in his own
explanation of it the measure in question made a part
of it since it was found peculiar to it and existed at
the time. The assertion that I might have abandoned
it in February is no proof that I did not. It was pro-
" posed, or, to use Mr. Francis’s words, it ‘ was renew=

* ‘Secret Select Committee’s Proc., 13th November 1780, Vol. I1, page 744
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ed’in June. My right to his concurrence in it re-
mained the same notwithstanding any intermediate
suspension of it.”*  Thus ended the long war between
Hastings and Francis. No impartial judge can read

- the respective minutes of the two men withnut coming

to the conclusion that Francis was guilty of a gross
breach of faith.

Hastings had excused himself for delaying to
answer the minute of Francis on the ground that
matters of greater importance had engrossed
his attention. The matter of greater importar;ce
was the preservation of the State from the
formidable league formed for the destruction of it.
News had reached the Council from Madras that
Hyder had entered the Carnatic, destroyed an
army, and driven Sir Hector Munro to the walls
of Fort St. George. Sir Edward Hughes sent
tidings of his having received undoubted intelligence
that seven sail of the line and seven thousand land
forces had left France and were intended to co-
operate with the enemies of England in India. Thirty
thousand Mahratta horses were encamped on the
western frontier of Bengal; an invasion of Behar by
the Mahrattas was also expected ; the Nizam professed
hostility ; Nujiff Khan threatened Oude and the forces

# Secret Select Committee’s Proc., 13th November 1780, Vol. 11, page 744.
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of Mahdajee Sindia threatened Corah and Allahabad,
~ while General Goddard was opposed by the whole

power of Poona. Then the spirit, judgment, and de-

cision of Hastings shone forth. At a meeting of the

Council held on the 25th September 1780, he declared

it was not a time ‘‘ for either long deliberation at home

or the formal and tedious process of megotiations

abroad.” The crisis demanded “the most instant,
~ powerful, and even hazardous exertion of the Govern-
ment to avert the event portended by so many con-
current difficulties.”* He proposed, though his army
was small and his treasury almost exhausted, that a
considerable supply of treasure and a large body of
troops should be sent to Madras, and that Sir Eyre
Coote should be requested to take the command of
the Carnatic Army. His “military experience,” he
wrote, “ and, above all the high estimation in which his
name is held by the world, and especially by that part
of it where it was principally acquired, mark him as
the only possible instrument to retrieve our past dis«
graces, or to preserve the British interests and pos-
sessions in the Carnatic from utter ruin. Our armies
which have been so long formed to the habits of con-
quest will not easily recover from the impression of
the dreadful reverse which has lately befallen them,

n

* Secret Select Committee's Proc,, September 1780, Vol. II, page 718,
.
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nor be brought to act with their former confidence
under unsuccessful commanders. The addition of
numbers will not relieve their apprehensions, and will
but contribute to oppress the hands which have
been already proved too weak to sustain the weight of
an inferior charge.”* To all the propositions except
the motion respecting the Commander-in-Chief, Francis
and Wheler objected on the ground that Bengal
was their first object, that the danger was at their door,
and consequently they could spare no troops and not
half the supply of treasure which Hastings proposed
to send to Madras. Sir Eyre Coote concurred with
the Governor General and the casting vote of Hastings
preserved India to Great Britain.

His opposition to the relief of our defeated army
at Madras was the last important official act of Philip
Francis. In November he set sail for England, a
disappointed and baffled man. The two objects
nearest to his heart, the humiliation of Hastings®
and the government of India, had eluded his
grasp. “’I am now, ” he wrote shortly after he
landed, “ I think on the road to be Governor
of Bengal which I believe is the first situation
in the world attainable by a subject?” But he
had miscalculated the mental vigour and pertina~

»

® Secret Select Committee’s Proc,, September 1780, Val. II, page 710
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city of his opponent. The struggle between them for

five years had been a severe one, and Francis left
 India defeated only to renew the war in England.
| “With ceaseless vigilance and concentrated industry he
. . worked to procure the recall of his enemy and to gain
the coveted office. He enjoyed the triumph of seeing
_his foe impeached, and he endured the bitter disap-
pointment of seeing him acquitted after a trial of seven
yeﬁrs during which his activity to secure a conviction
was unremitting to the end. The inveterate hos-
tility which he displayed towards the accused created

x
iy

& a profound prejudice against Francis,%d so materially
. helped to deprive him of the great 4mbition of his life.
‘ “1 will never be concerned,” he said, in bitterness of
soul, “in impeaching anybody. The impeachment of
Mr. Hastings has cured me of that folly. I'was tried
and he was acqu.it'ted." But there was about his
nature a pertinacity which nothing could subdue. Six
. . "and twenty years did he pursue with unwearied zeal
L and industry his object. Then, when Pitt died and
e the Whig party came into office, he believéd the prize
* to be within his grasp. The death of Cornwallis had

left the Governor Generalship of India once more
- vacant. But the new Ministers, as Lord Brougham

said, could no more have obtained the East India

Company’s consent to the appointment of Francis
«than they could have transported the Himalaya moun-

»
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tains to Leadénhall Street® The fixed ideas and

ungovernable temper of the man must have brought

ruin to their dominion. In one of the last speeches he

ever delivered in the House of Commons, Francis ~

denounced the second Mahratta war in the same ”
vigorous terms in which he had denounced the first
Mahratta war in the Council chamber at Bengal. He
regarded our successes in India in the same light that
he regarded our successes in the Peninsula, as a series

-~ of mistakes, and Hastings and Wellington he consi-

dered to be both bunglers.t The appointment of Lord
Minto to the Governor Generalship put an end to the
dream of hislife.} He never recovered the disappoint-
ment and the bitter remembrance of failure accom-
panied him into retirement. On the 25th March 1807 .
he asked a few questions on the affairs of India, includ-
ing the mutiny of Vellore, and this was the last act
of ‘the long and active political career of Philip
Francis. :

_* Statesmen of the time of George [1l.—Brougham.

‘l' Memoirs of Sir Philip Francis.— Merivale, Volume 11, page 360.

1 “On the death of Lord Cornwallis my right or claim to succeed him,
though supported by His Royal Highness, was superseded by thc coalition in

1806." = Memorandum written by Francis., .
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 that the Raja said he had but thirteen hundred in his

'AQ g

5 o CHARTER Vo T i
b BENARES AND THE OUDE BEGUMS. - {: :.;
At a consultation held on the 26th Septeq er

1780, Sir Eyre Coote presented a plan for the.g«‘
defence of Bengal and Oude which he had skeﬂdh
ed at the desire of the Board. As an invasioh .
of Behar was expected, Sir Eyre Coote proposea
to station a large body of infantry in that prav’
ince, together with two regiments of horse and
one thousand or as many of Cheyt Sing's cavalry as,
they could procure. This was the origin of the demaag_- -
for cavalry from Cheyt Sing. It was suggested ) A
Eyre Coote and not by Hastings, who is accused by*' :
Macaulay of making the demand in order to fasten @
quarrel on Cheyt Sing whom he had determined td
plunder.*  On the 2nd November the attention of e
Board was again-drawn to the want of cavalry, and

~ Hastings was requested to write to Cheyt Smg foph

such as he could spare. In December the Resident .
of Benares wrote to Hastings that he had repeatedly
pressed the Raja on the subject of the cavalry but
could obtain no answer. The next month he wrote

3 i
service, and that all except two hundred and fifty were

* Macaulay writes :—" I-.hstings was determined to plunder Cheyt Sing
and for that end to fasten a quarrel on him, Accordingly the Raja®was now
required to keep a body of cavalry for the service of Government.”
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5 .}pfutely necessal'y for collectmg the revenu O

-the 215t May 1781 Hastings proposed to the Board
at he should visit Oude in order to have an interview

f"' Yith the Nawab, whose province had fallen into a state
,{.
o, he hoped to take advantage of his visit to Oude to
_conclude negotiations with the Raja of Benares. At

of great disorder and confusion. He also stated that g

ha this time the Council consisted only of two members— .

"» Wheler and Hastings—and as the latter had the.cast-_

‘

. *ing vote the request was purely formal. Hastings

i . wProposed that his colleague should during his absence
i-. consider himself ‘“as possessed of the full powers of
’?‘ the Gevernor General and Council of this Government,
** ,as in effect he is by the Constitution, and he may be

e

kn Tl .
“7'+ assured that if sanction and concurrence shall be or be

:’ ~ deemed necessary for the confirmation of this measure,
w he shall receive them.”® He also formally procured
from the Council credentials which, besides granti
‘to him power to make treaties with any of the Chix
or Powers of Hindustan, also invested him “with full
power and authority to form such arrangements with
the Raja of Benares for the better government of the
_ zemindary, and to perform such acts for the improve=
mwent of the interest which the Hon’ble Company
possesses in it, as he shall think fit and consonant to
the mutual relation and actual engagement subsisting

iy # Secret Select Committee’s Proc., 3rd July 1781, Vol. 111, page 765.
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L

—

between the Company and the Raja.”* Burke after-
wards regarded this division of power as criminal; = It
was argued that the word arrangements plainly implied
that the Governor was to arrange such acts as he

-

should think consonant to the mutual engagement.

subsisting between the Company and the Raja in an
" amicable way, and not in a hostile manner. Lord
Thurlow in discussing the charge quoted the prece-

_ dents of Vansittart, Clive, and Coynwallis to show that.
‘Hastings had a right to delegate and assume the -

powers of Government on great and emergent occasions, -
Before starting for Benares, Hastings informed

Wheler, his colleague, and others that he intend-

ed to fine Cheyt Sing fifty lakhs of rupees.

He was assured that he had amassed a very

. large sum of'money, and he regarded his relue-

fance to aid the sovereign power as an addi-
tional proof of his disaffection and a grave offence,
®and he determined,” as he said, “ to make him pay
largely for his pardon, to exact a severe vengeance for
his delinquency, and to draw from his guilt the means
of relief to the Company’s distress.”t On reaching
Benares Hastings transmitted to the Raja a statement
of his offences. He informed him that the danger to

CoN

* Secret Select Committee’s Proc., 3rd July 1871, Vol, III, page 765.
t Ditto ditto 4thSeptember 1781, Vol. 111, page 789.




. HIS LETTER TO CHEYT SING.

which the detachment of Colonel Camac was exposed
was due to his not paying the war subsidy of 1780,
which he by letter had guaranteed to do.

" “Relying on this agreement and promise I gave orders
to Mr. Fowke, who was then Resident at this place, to
receive money and remit it to Colonel Camac for the pay of
the army which had been ordered to march towards the
Province of Malwa, and I made no other provision for it such
was my confidence in your faith ; but you deceived me, and
after having made the first payment of a few ruch, cither
consulting the temper of the times, or conforming to a
premeditated design, you by shifts and pretexts withbeld the
remainder until the army, for whose use it was intended, was
reduced to the last state of distress. Many hundreds desert-
ed, and had an enemy at that time appeared against them their
total destruction would have been inevitable. In all this time
daily applications were made to you by the Resident, and

I wrote repeated letters to you, but you paid no regard to

either.” He added—* Besides this, [ requirc'd.. in the name
of the Governor General and Council by letter, and ordered
Mr. Fowke to repeat the requisition in person, that you,
should furnish a body of horse to assist and act with the
armies of ' the Company ; and when Mr, Markham succeeded
Mr. Fowke I gave him orders to repeat the demand, which
he did accordingly with frequent and almost daizly impor-
tunity, limiting the number to 7, 500 and afterwards to 7,000.
To this demand you returned eyasive-answers, nor to this
hour have you contributed a single horseman.” *

I

* Secret Select Committee’s Proc., 4th September 1781, Vol. 111, page 782,
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Hastmgs closes the letter in the followmg emphatio
manner ;—

“] pass over the instances of your conduct m M’nch
through the means of your secret agents you have endeavour-
ed to excite disorder in the Government on which you
depend, and your neglect of the duty which you owe to it,
and to the subjects of this zemindary, by suffeging the dailys
perpetration of robberies and murders, even in the streets of -
the city of Benares itself, to the great and public scandal of
the English name, and in violation o fone of the conditions
on which .you received the confirmation of this zemindary.
But as the two foregoing instances amount to a direct charge
of disaffection and infidelity to the Government on which you
depend, and happened at a time in which it was your duty

_ most especially to have exerted yourself in the support of its

interests, 1 have therefore judged it proper to state them to
you thus fully in writing, and to requirc your answer to them,
and this I expect immediately.”

To the charges brought against him by Hastmgs,
the Raja replied,  that he obeyed the orders with the
utmost readiness, * * * * [ sent first one lakh of rupees
with an answer to your letter. Afterwards having paid
tp Mr. Fowke the sum of one lakh and seventy thou-
sand rupees, | sent a letter requesting a further allow-
ance of time to make some preparations. To this
I received no reply. It being no time to delay nots
withstanding this I was not a moment inattentive to

N \lis concern, and as soon as my Buxey arrived I paid

\
* Secret Select Commiitee’s Proc., 4th September 1781, Vol. lll. page 783.




' u:m:ediatefy the remaining part of the sum. 'ﬂm
remitting of this to the army did not depend upon me ;
if any delay happened on this head I could not helpit.
If besides the payment of the money the remittance of
it also to the ara® had rested with me, a delay of this
kind should not have happened.” * The answer was
*_ false in all its parts. He did not pay the first lakh
" until the sth August 1780, though the demand was
made in the end of June, and then he refused to pay
_ any further sum until he had got an answer to a letter
he had written to Hastings requiring further time to
dispose of his effects. To this representation the R.aj:l;
said he received no reply, though a reply was imme-
diately sent, strongly expressive of the Board's displea-
; sure at his excuses, which they said they knew to be
.\ . futile. This expression of displeasure did not hasten*
. the payment, which was not finally made untit the 18th
‘ of October 1780, although the Raja promised it in the
& month of July. With regard to his not [urnishing cavalry
"‘; the Raja replied: ‘“In compliance with your wishes
1 collected Tive hundred horses and a substitute for
~ the remainder five hundred burkundasses, of which 1
sent you information, and I told Mr, Markham that '
" they were ready to go to whatever plaee they should

T
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be sent. No answer, however, came from you in this %

* Secret Selegt Committee’s Proc., 4th September 1781, Vol, 111, page 785.
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196 THE ADMINISTRATION OF WARREN HASTINGS.

head, and I remained astonished at the cause of it.
Repeatedly I asked Mr. Markham about an arswer to
my letter about the horse, but he told me that he
did not know the reason of no answer having been
sent ; | remained astonished.” * The answer of Cheyt
Sing well deserves the description given of it b
Hastings; it was “ : <, :
stance but offensive in style.” + It also-afforded a

not only unsatisfactory in sub-

strong indication of that spirit of independency which
the Raja had for some years assumed. ~ ““ Under these
alarming appearances of the Raja’s conduct and dis-
position,’, wrote Hastings, “ I conceived myself indis-
pensably obliged to form some immediate and decisive -
plan for obviating their consequences, and for the pre-
servation of the Company’s rights and interests in this
zemindary. To have left him in the full exercise of
powers which he had notoriously abused, and which it
was to be apprehended he would employ to the most
dangerous purposes, was totally inconsistent with the
maxims of justice and prudence. To divest him
entirely of the zemindary, though justifiable ‘on the
grounds stated above, would be attended with an ap-
pearance of severity, and might have furnished grounds
for construction unfavourable to the credit of our Goy-

* Secret Select Committee's Proc., 4th September 1781, Vol.1ll,page 784.
+ Ditto ditto ditto, page 785
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ernment and to my own reputation, from the natural .
influence which every act of rigour exercised in the
persons of men who stand in elevated stations is apt
to impress on the minds of those who are too remote
from the scene of action to judge by any evidence
but of the direct facts themselves of their motives
or propriety.” * After weighing the conflicting con-
siderations, Hastings ordered the Resident to put
Cheyt Sing under arrest, and he sent two com-
panies of the sepoys that he had brought with him
to Benares to mount guard in the Raja's palace.
A numerous body of armed men from the Raja’s forti-
fied palace at Ramnagar suddenly crossed the river,
attacked and massacred the whole party. The sepoys
having no ammunition fell without resistance. The.
Raja escaped and fled to his fortress Luteefgarh.
Hastings in his letter dated 27th August 1781 writes:—

“On the 1gth alarge force returned to Ramnagar. Cap.-
tain Blair with his battalion and Captain Mayaffre with the
remainder of Major Popham’s detachment were ordered to
assemble for the attack of that place, and Major Popham to
join and conduct the operations according to a concerted plan,
The two corps having joined, Captain Mayaffre, the senior
officer, without waiting for Major Popham, against orders, on
the morning of the 2oth, marched precip.itately into the
narrow streets of the town, where, in an instant, he fell with
Captain Doxatt and 33 rangers, and almost all the sepoys of

* Secret Select Committee’s Proc,, 4th September 1781, Vol. I11, page 785,
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‘Captain Blair's battalion that had entered with him ; the rest
" of the detachment returned to Chunar with the loss of two
.guns, one howitzer, and 103 men of all denominatiors killed.
I was in Benares with the broken remains of Major Popham’s,
first party, consisting of about 400 men, in a place incapable
of defence even with equal numbers, Preparations were
making to attack me. I waited till the evémwing fora bat-
talion ordered from Chunar to reinforce our party; at 7 re-
peated intelligence arrived that the Raja’s boat$ were in mo-
tion ; no news had arrived of the battalion from Chunar, It
was resolved to meet it and march with it to Chunar. The
resolution was instantly carried into execution.' We passed
the battalion which returned and overtook us, and on the 22nd

at daybreak we gained the bank of the river opposite to .

Chunar, having met no opposition. The detachment crossed
on the morning of the 23rd. The Raja’s forces are divided be-
tween Ramnagar and Luteefgarh. His family is at Bidjeygur.
His fixed establishment exceeds 10,000 men, and all his re-
cruits bear arms. Major Popham is encamped on the plain
east of the fort. I expect to be joined by a regiment from
_Cawnpore which are ordered for my guard at Lucknow.
Lieutenant Polhill, with six companies of the Nabob’s guard,
are at hand, and Major Moses Crawford’s battalions, My
only distress is the want of money and is great. "%

The insurrection at Benares scems to have pro-
.. duced a strong impression on the mind of Hastings,
for he wrote to his colleagues: “ My regrets for the
“past are personal. I shall ever retain the painful
“remembrance of that scene of blood of which I have

K

* Secret Select Committee's Proc,, 18th October 4871, Vol. III, page 792,
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)
been too near a spectator, and which no future return

of prosperity can ever efface from my mind ; but in the

prospect before me I think that | have every reason
to expect the happiest termination of it in the extension
of the power and influence of the Company, and that
the past example may contribute to the permanency
of both by prompting us to guard against the secret
growth of the Tlike evil which has produced it? .

In a letter dated the 4th bcptember, Hastings

announces to the Board that Captain Blair with ;
his battalion and two companies of his own °

grenadiers and two guns (6-pounders) had attack-

ed the enemy collected at Pateeta, seven miles
from Chunar. * They were prepared to receive him,

and made a very spirited resistance; after a very
long action, the fortune of the day was happily
turned in our favour by a bold but well-]udged
manceuvre. Captain Blair detached his two grenadier
companies to attack two guns which were posted on the
flank, and galled his troops exceedingly. The attack
succeeded, and the two guns were turned on the enemy
who were soon after totally routed. Captain Blair

“brought off three of their guns and spiked the fourth

the carriage of which was disabled ; ‘he also brought
away one of their tumbrils and all his own loaded with
their ammunition, three more of. their tumbrils with

* Secret Select Commitiee’s Proc., 18th October 1781, Vol, 11, page 798
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300 THE ADMINISTRATION OF WARREN HASTINGS.

much loose powder were blown up on the field, Cap-
tain Blair having no means of bringing them away.
He was obliged to leave about 1,500 of their shot
piled‘in avillage. The enemy’s numbers are reputed
8 or 9,000 men. Captain Blair judges them from
appearance to be only 3,000 or 4,000 ; they were their
prime men. Our loss, which I add with regrei, ex-
ceeds 105 killed and wounded, theirs must be propor-
tionately more, though unknown. Itisremarkable that
the enemy’s artillery and carriages made at Ramnagar
are almost equal to ours; their cartridges and port-
fires compounded with equal skill, and their powder
much better.” *

Information having reached Major Popham re-
garding the state of the two fortresses of
Lutteefpoor and Pateeta, which led him to sup-
pose that fhey might be easily captured, he de-
termined to attack them without .delay, and for
that purpose divided his army into two detach-
ments. ‘“The first detachment,” wrote Hastings,
“marched on the night of 15th by a large. circuit
through almost impracticable ways. But the spirit of
the officers and men surmounted every difficulty. In
places where the.guns could not be drawn by bullocks
the sepoys lifted them up the rocks, and at length, on

-

* Secret Select Committee’s Proc., 18th October 1781, Vol, III, page 803.
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the morning of the 26th they arrived at the heights
lying behind and above the fort of Lutteefpoor, at a
place called Lora, which commands a pass descending
to Lutteefpoor, and reputed inacessible against opposi-
tion but from above. The profound secrecy with which
this expedition was undertaken, and to which the
security of the ehemy in a region so unfrequented not
a little contributed, prevented any opposition to our
troops in the difficult parts of their route. Their first
movement only but neither their strength nor destina«
tion was known till their very near approach. At Lora
they met a body of 2,000 of the enemy, which they
defeated and dispersed with little loss on our side, but
on theirs of 200 men killed on the spot. The next
morning they took possession of the pass and of the
fort of Lutteefpoor which they found evacuated.” *
On the 25th September Hastings™ returned
to Beﬁ:;f-gs, where he found the city restor-
ed to a state of order and tranquillity, He issued
proclamations offering pardon to all except Cheyt
Sing and his brother, “whom their late rebellious
conduct and their rancour manifested to our nation
in the deliberate murder of many of our soldiers, and
even unarmed passengers who had the misfortune to
fall into their hands, precluded from every title of

* Secret Select Commitiee’s Proc., 18th October 1781, Vol. 111, page 806, )
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B

mercy.””™ A grandson of Raja Bulwunt Sing by a
daughter was proclaimed Raja with great form and
solemnity. Hastings also took steps for the protec-

~ tion of the persons and property of the inhabitants of

‘the sacred city. When the sovereignty of Benares
was ceded to the Company the superintendence of the
police was formally made over by the English to
Cheyt Sing, but the arrangement proved a disastrous
failyre. “ From this period,” wrote Hastings, “ the
appearance of public justice was gradually effaced till
at last without any system of police, any courts of
judicature, or any awe of the sovereign power, the
inhabitants of Benares were guilty of enormities and
crimes which reflected the greatest disgrace on the
Government to which they were subjects. The rela-
tions and dependants of the Raja, or the merchants
whose credit was useful in the payment of his revenue,
might violate the rights of their fellow citizens with
impunity, and the sacred character of a Brahmin or
the high rank of the offender were considerations which
stamped a pardon on the most flagitious crimes.” +

© To remedy this scandalous state of affairs

- Hastings established distinct departments for the
_police and fot the civil and criminal jurisdic-
“

* Secret Select Committee’s Proc., 18th October 1781, Vol. 111, fage 806.
+ Ditto Ditto, 12th November 1781, Vol, III, page 815,



tion of the city, and placed them under the
regulation and control of a Chief Magistrate
who was subject to the immediate orders of the
Governor General and Council. The person chosen

by Hastings to fill the office of Chief Magistrate

was a Mahomedan, Ally Ibrahim Khan, “a man whe
has long been personally known to myself and, I
believe, to many individuals of our Government, and
whose character for moderation, disinterestedness, and
good sense will bear the tests of the strictest en-
quiry.”* The Board on hearing of this appointment
expressed a regret that ‘“the incapacity of the more
dignified characters of the Gentoo rcligion to conduct
the management of such a trust prevented you, and
must ever do so from promoting them to high office.” ¥
Regarding the measures which Hastings had taken for
the better administration of the city of Benares his
colleagues expressed their warmest approval in the
following terms:

“Your guarded attention to the security and convenience
of the pilgrims, and your abolition of those taxes and embar-

rassments which have grown against them from rapacity of a
. corrupt Government, are peculiarly to your credit.”

They added— d

“ Even in a political view your arrangements upon the

# Sgcret Select Committee’s Proc,, 12th November 1781, Vol. I, page 816*
t Ditto Ditto 3rd December 1781, Vol. 111, page 820,
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subject are interesting, and may lead to the most important
consequences. All Indostan, from the source of the Ganges
to Cape Comorin, is interested in the happy regulation of the
police of Benares, and the unpolluted tranquillity of its col-
leges. The leading Mahrattas with whom we are at war are
strongly attached to this supposed residence of the purity of
their religion. ~

“From these considerations we beg leave to suggest to
you whether it would not be proper to publish in the different
languages of India the regulations you have adopted. A very
short time will spread them over all Indostan, which, with the
reports of the pilgrims upon their return, cannot but impress
the natives with the mild liberality and attention of our Gov-
ernment.

“Even among the different nations of Europe whose
learned enquiries have been of late particularly directed to
the religious antiquities and early knowledge of the sciences
in this country, it will be matter of satisfaction and admira-
tion and of consequent credit to our Government that
Benares, in ‘which you were so dangerously exposed, should
remain so deeply indebted to your careful regulation and
protection.” ¥ '

The measures so warmly applauded by his
colleagues were afterwards as forcibly denounced
by the managers of the impeachment. The
first charge brought against Hastings was re-
garding his conduct towards Cheyt Sing, He
was accused of violating a treaty with an inde-

.
* Secret Select Committee’s Proc., grd December 1781, Vol. III, page 820.
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pendent Prince, unjustly compelling him to pay five
lakhs of rupees annually for three years, intending
to impose upon him an enormous fine for imputed de-
linquency, and causing his person to be arrested.
Burke took infinite pains to prove that Cheyt Sing was
made independent of the English Government in every
respect except that of paying to it annually twenty-
three lakhs of rupees, and that the Government had
irrevocably bound itself down not to exact in any case
a larger sum. It is however clear beyond all question
that Cheyt Sing was a dependent on Sujah-Dowlah*
and afterwards on the British Government, apd conse-
quently responsible to Hastings in his character as
Governor General. As Hastings said in his defence
at the bar of the House of Commons: *“He was
neither more nor less than a zamindar. His sunnud
and potah were made out, not from a copy of stipula-
tions and agreements between him and the Company

* See translation of the new coulnama or agreement and translation of the
pottah given by the Nawab Sujah-ud-Dowla to Cheyt Sing.~Secret Select
Committee’s Proc., gth October 1773, Vol. I, page 56.

“Wheieas by virtue of a treaty with the Nawab Asoph-ud-Dowla conclud-
ed on the 20th of Rabhey-ul-Awul 1189 Hijeree, or 21st May 1775 the gov-
ernment and sovereignty of the Sircars above mentioned has been ceded to
the Hon'ble East India ‘Company from the 4th Jemmady-ul-Awul 1184
Hijeree, or 4th July 1775 : the said East India Company therefore, in virtue of
the rights thereby obtained, do confirm unto Raja Chegt Singh the Zamindary,
Ameeny and Fouzdary of the said Sircars, agreeably to the Zemmun, together
with the Cutwallees of Jaunpore and Benasesand the mint of Benares, from the
said datg—Secret Sclect Commiltee's Proc., 15th April 1776, Vol. 11, page
51z ©
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but from the common formulxe of such instruments
granted to zamindars in the Company's original pro=
vinces. The Raja never pretended any right to stipulbte
or demand ; he was content with what the Company was
pleased to allow him.” The sunnud distinctly states
that ““ the government and sovereignty of the Sircars
had been ceded to the Hon’ble East India C Company,
and that the said East India Company, therefore, in
“ virtue of the rights obtained confirmed unto Cheyt
- Sing the zamindary.” The sunnud also granted to
him the right of coining money on the condition ‘“ that
whatever gold and silver shall be coined in the mint,.
the said Raja shall coin conformably to his muchulka,”
The sunnud also stipulated that ‘“all former sunnuds
do become null and void.” A pottah or document
specifying the condition on which lands are held, was
also framed. A kabulyat or agreement was also
drawn up which stated—* It shall be my duty to do
everything that may be needful and usual for the in-
terest of the country.” On the 13th June 1776 the
Resident at Benares wrote that the Raja objected to
signing any muchulka, or penalty bond, and to the in-
_sertion of any muchulka, or penalty bond in the
sunnud or pottah. The Board replied: ““ As we have
not insisted on the insertion of the clause respecting
the penalty in the agreement of the Raja, the i‘pstru-
ment which is to be executed by him cannot now be
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called a2 muchulka. We thereby authorize you to

erase this word where it has been mentioned in the
sunnud and pottah transmitted to you, as well as in
the titles of the kabulyat which you are to obtain
from him.” On the 17th July 1776 the Resident in-
formed the Board that Cheyt Sing ‘‘has declined the
acceptance of the sunnud and pottah for which he
assigns these reasons, that any erasement in a sunnud
or public deed is totally unprecedented in the usages
of this country ; that the clause in the sunnud by which
the former sunnuds are declared to be null is likewise
_contrary to custom and practice, and further that in the
above clause the word ‘sunnuds’ being used in the
~ plural number, the coulnama which he received with
the former sunnuds and pottah is thereby likewise ren-
dered void and of no effect. *The Raja objects to the
execution of the kabulyat on account of the clause it
contains by which the former sunnuds are annulled.” *
The Board ordered ‘that the Secretary prepare a
new sunnud and pottah omitting the word ‘muchulka’
and the sentence declaring the former sunpuds to be
null, and that these be transmitted to Mr. Fowke with
directions to receive back the temporary pottah and .
grant which were first allowed him.,” * On the 25th

o
* Secret Select Committee’s Proc., 29th July 1776, Vol. 1I, page 549.
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September 1776 the Resident informed the Board
““that he had invested Cheyt Sing with a khelaut or
~ robe of office, and informed him that the continuance
of this §ndulgence would depend on his own punc-
tuality in completing his payments and adhering faith.
fully to the other conditions on which he holds his
zemindary. ‘I likewise delivered to him the sunnuds
transmitted to me by Mr. Secretary Auriol under date
the 4th September 1776, and received back from
him the former sunnuds which I herewith enclose.”*
In the charges brought against Hastings by the
House of ‘Commons, it was stated that neither the first.
set of deeds nor the second set of deeds was en-
tered in the records or transmitted to the Court
of Directors, Hastings, in his defence, stated that
he had no concern in making out the sunnuds or
omitting to record them ; that these practical opera-
tions belonged to the Secretary of the Board under
the superintendence of the majority, of which at this
time he was not a part, and that if there was any mis-
conduct the majority were answerable for it. “The
first deeds were however received and are now printed.
There was no need to record the second deeds as the
alterations were distinctly stated. These alterations
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do not affect the main question that Cheyt Sing was
" not a sovereign, but the zamindar of Benares by a
sunnud granted to him by the English, and that he
made an agreement binding himself to do ‘‘ eveything
that might be useful and needful for the interest and
security of the country.” The interest and security of
the country demanded that he should contribute money
and troops for its defence. It was also in accordance
with long established custom that a vassal should afford
aid to the sovereign State in .money and troops.
The conduct of Cheyt Sing, in hesitating to afford the
necessary aid to his suzerain at a time of great danger
was contumacious and refractory and deserving of
punishment. Fifty lakhs was undoubtedly a large
fine, but it by no means exceeded the ability of Cheyt
Sing to pay it with ease, as is evident from the treas
sures he left behind in his fortresses without taking into
consideration the gold and silver he exported beyond
the frontier. But when we consider the state of India at
that time, when we consider that the English were sur-
rounded by enemies and in hourly expectation of the
arrival of a powerful French armament, it is difficult to
regard the imposition of even a too heavy fine on a
refractory vassal as an act of criminality. In enforc-
ing these demands Hastings was actuated by no
personal or malicious motives, but was compelled by

: . A : :
the pressing exigencies of the bour and the desire to
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“save India to Great Britain. 1 had no other view in

*‘ _it,” he said, “ than that of relieving the necessities of
& ithe Company by an act which I considered to be
. strictly just.” ;
" When Hastings went to Benares the Government
was in the utmost distress for money. There iwere

» several armies in the field, and the demands for treasure
+  werevarious and immediate. The entire expense of all
" military operations fell on the treasury of Bengal, and
~ the treasury of Bengal was empty. Heavy loans had
been contracted, the credit of Government was low,

and Hastings, as was natural under the -circum-
stances, looked to the chief debtor of the Company

«  for relief. The Vizier of Oude owed the Company
a crere and a balf of rupees. But the Vizier
informed Hastings at Chunar, where he had gone to
meet bim, (hat his own funds were exhausted, and that

it was no longer possible for him to maintain the
English troops employed in protecting his territories.
Hastings knew the statement to be true. The condi-
- tion of Oude had for the past five years occupied his
I* % anxious attention. The settlement made at the death
of the late Vizier against his strongest protests had
proved a disastrous failure, Francis, Clavering and

"é‘( ' “Monson had increased the hire of the English troops
e ! and at the same time deprived the Nawab of the means

, of paying for them. When his father Sujah-Dowlah
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